IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: Apr 15 2024
10:08AM EDT
Transaction ID 72742777

No. 23-752

Severin POA Group, LLC
Petitioner,

v.

Earl J. Nicholson
And Joyce A. Nicholson,
Respondents.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER SEVERIN POA GROUP, LLC

Frank E. Simmerman, Jr. (WVSB # 3403)
Chad L. Taylor (WVSB # 10564)
Frank E. Simmerman, III (WVSB # 11589)
SIMMERMAN LAW OFFICE, PLLC
254 East Main Street
Clarksburg, West Virginia 26301
Phone: (304) 623-4900
Facsimile: (304) 623-4906
fes@simmermanlaw.com
clt@simmermanlaw.com
trey@simmermanlaw.com

Counsel for Petitioner Severin POA Group, LLC

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. THE WV ICA ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING AS THE WV ICA DISREGARDED LONG STANDING WEST VIRGINIA CASE LAW, FROM THE SAME ERA AS THE 1902 RESERVATION, WHICH PLAINLY DICTATES THAT A RESERVATION OF A 1/16th IS A RESERVATION OF ½ OF THE OIL AND GAS ESTATE – AND AS THE ESTATE MISCONCEPTION THEORY HAS A SOLID, AND EXISTING, FOUNDATION IN WEST VIRGINIA JURISPRUDENCE WHICH NECESSITATES CREATION OF A REBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION AS A RULE FOR FRACTIONAL MINERAL ESTATE LITIGATION AND TITLE INTERPRETATION IN WEST VIRGINIA
- B. THE WEST VIRGINIA INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS, (“WV ICA”), ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING AS THE WV ICA FAILED TO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE TERMS 1/8th, AND ITS PROGENY, 1/16th, ARE TERMS OF ART IN THE EARLY 1900s WEST VIRGINIA OIL AND GAS INDUSTRY – SUCH THAT A RESERVATION OF “1/16th OF ALL THE OIL AND GAS IN AND UNDER SAID LAND” IS PLAINLY A RESERVATION OF ½ OF THE OIL AND GAS ESTATE¹
- C. THE WV ICA ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING AS THE WV ICA DISREGARDED HIGHLY PERSUASIVE FOREIGN AUTHORITY WHICH DICTATES THAT A RIGID, ARITHMETIC, MECHANICALLY APPLIED APPROACH IS NOT THE PROPER LENS FOR EXAMINATION OF EARLY OIL AND GAS CONVEYANCES/RESERVATIONS WITH FRACTIONAL PROVISIONS TIED TO THE 1/8th TERM OF ART – SUCH AS THE 1/16th PROVISION BEFORE THIS COURT – AND THE APPROPRIATE ANALYSIS PLAINLY DICTATES THAT THE RESERVATION AT ISSUE IS A RESERVATION OF ½ OF THE OIL AND GAS ESTATE CONSISTENT WITH RECENT TEXAS JURISPRUDENCE – JURISPRUDENCE WHICH ALIGNS WITH EARLY 1900s WEST VIRGINIA PRECEDENT
- D. ALTERNATIVELY, THE WV ICA ERRED IN FAILING TO FIND THAT THE 1902 DEED, AND THE AT ISSUE 1/16th RESERVATION/TERM, ARE AMBIGUOUS SUCH THAT EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE MUST BE CONSIDERED – EVIDENCE WHICH CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHES THAT THE PARTIES INTENDED AND OPERATED UNDER THE FRAMEWORK THAT THE 1/16th RESERVATION IN THE 1902 DEED IS PLAINLY A RESERVATION OF ½ OF THE OIL AND GAS ESTATE – THUS SEVERIN POA IS VESTED WITH ½ OF THE OIL AND GAS ESTATE UNDER THE PARCEL

¹ Given that this Assignment of Error is a principle which is subsumed in the core of all arguments presented below, no separate argument section is directly tethered to this Assignment of Error.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Severin POA Group, LLC, (“Petitioner or Severin POA”), is asking this Court to reverse the WV ICA’s decision that a provision contained in an April 18, 1902, Deed was a reservation of a 1/16th interest in an oil and gas mineral estate under a 117.55-acre parcel, (“the Parcel”). As set forth below, the WV ICA performed simple arithmetic, not the necessary contextual and industry specific legal analysis, to reach an unjustifiable holding – a holding contrary to Doddridge County Circuit Judge Timothy L. Sweeney’s decision, long-standing West Virginia jurisprudence, the terms of art before the Court, and recent, highly persuasive foreign authority.²

A. F.W. Severin/Severin POA’s Chain Of Title, A Summary Of Oil And Gas Activities On The Parcel Prior To The 1902 Deed, And Antero Resources Corporation’s Conclusion That The 1902 1/16th Reservation Reserved ½ Of The Oil And Gas Estate In F.W. Severin, And Thus His Heirs, Including Severin POA.

As of January 1, 1902, F.W. Severin was vested with one hundred percent (100%) of the surface, oil, gas and hydrocarbon fee estate related to 224 contiguous acres in the New Milton District of Doddridge County, West Virginia – a portion of which is comprised of the Parcel/117.55-acre parcel at issue. (See Appx. 375-376, Appx. 501-527).

Related to the 224-acre estate, it is uncontested that pre – 1902 substantial oil and gas activities/operations were occurring on F.W. Severin’s 224-acre tract. For example, by lease dated December 27, 1897, F.W. Severin leased a portion of his oil and gas unto The South Penn Oil Company, reserving a traditional 1/8th royalty interest,³ free of cost, for “all oil produced and saved

² Of note, the most on point foreign decision is Johnson v. Clifton, 2023 Tex. APP. LEXIS 4925, 2023 WL 4443016 (Ct. App. Texas, July 10, 2023), a case decided after the close of briefing in the WV ICA Appeal process – briefing having closed in the WV ICA on April 5, 2023.

³ This is a critical point – and plainly evidences the 1902 parties’ knowledge of, and familiarity with, the 1/8th concept prior to the 1902 Deed/reservation – realities ignored by the WV ICA.

from the premises”, and also establishing therein a flat rate gas payment of \$200.00 per year “for the gas from each and every well drilled on said premises.” (Appx. 528). Similarly, July 26, 1898, F.W. Severin entered into an oil and gas lease with the Carter Oil and Gas Company for a portion of his mineral estate, similarly reserving a traditional 1/8th royalty interest, free of cost, for “all oil produced and saved from the premises.” (Appx. 531-532).

Within this factual context which unequivocally contains the “legacy 1/8th royalty”, by handwritten deed, (“the Deed”), dated April 18, 1902, F.W. Severin conveyed to L.D. Nicholson his interest in the Parcel (a 117.5 acre portion of his 224 acre total fee estate), subject to the following oil and gas estate reservation: “the parties of the first [F.W. Severin] also reserve the one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land.” (Appx. 375-376).

Stated differently, F.W. Severin reserved in himself, and his successors such as Severin POA, ½ of the oil and gas in place, and related oil and gas royalties, by an express reservation of “one sixteenth of the oil and gas in an under said land” – known commonly as a one-half of the royalty interest reservation, being a 1/2 of an 1/8, or 1/16th. See Id. As will be discussed below, in 1902, this was a common and accepted practice in West Virginia for reserving such interests, a one-half oil and gas/royalty interest, under West Virginia jurisprudence and title/abstracting practices in 1902. (Appx. 186-188).

At the Circuit Court level Richard Starkey, Esq., the lone expert disclosed at the Circuit Court level, by Antero Resources Corporation, opined as follows: “(1) the deed reservation in question in this action reserves an undivided one-half interest of the oil and gas; and (2) the land book records involving the assessment of the interest at issue in this action evidence that the parties to the deed intended the reservation to mean one-half of the oil and gas interest.” (Appx. 187).⁴

⁴ As part of a confidential settlement reached between Petitioners and Antero, Mr. Starkey’s opinions were ultimately withdrawn.

The reasoning behind such an opinion is that 1/16th was a term of art/oil and gas trade in 1902, as it was 1/2 of the traditional 1/8 royalty.

During discovery, Severin POA reviewed, analyzed, and presented the Doddridge County Land Books to the Circuit Court, starting immediately after the 1902 F.W. Severin – L.D. Nicholson transaction. From 1902 through 1911 the oil and gas estate was not separately recorded/itemized on the Doddridge County Land Books. Beginning in 1912, the entries are as follows:

LAND BOOK YEAR/NAME	ACREAGE DESCRIPTION	MINERAL ESTATE DESCRIPTION
1912 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 C O G
1913 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	All C, 1/2 O.G.
1914 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	C 1/2 “ ”
1915 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 “ ”
1916 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 “ ”
1917 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 “ ”
1918 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 O.G.
1919 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 OG
1920 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 O.G.
1921 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	1/2 COG.
1925 – F.W. Severin	224 Acres – Robert’s Fork	C.O.G.

(Appx. 501 – 522).⁵

The best evidence, from the relevant timeframe, indicates that the 1902 reservation was a reservation of 1/2 of the oil and gas estate, as recognized by the Circuit Court, consistent with general transactional practice/custom in 1902 and Judge Sweeney’s conclusion.

Concerning the present dispute, it is only when Antero Resources Corporation, (“Antero”), unilaterally and independently determined that Severin POA was vested with a 1/2 mineral estate

⁵ There is no extrinsic evidence from the era of the 1902 Deed which supports Respondents’ position/construction.

in the Parcel that the Respondents first challenged Severin POA's entitlement to ½ of the oil and gas mineral estate.

In June of 2013 Antero approached the heirs of F.W. Severin, effectively Severin POA, concerning lease modifications which would allow for modern production methods (pooling and/or unitization), noting therein that “if not I need to send all living heirs of F.W. Severin modifications [sic] and the ½ interest would be divided out among each.” (emphasis added) Id.

Ultimately, consistent with Antero's independent/unilateral title determination that Severin POA owned a ½ interest in the mineral estate under the Parcel, the F.W. Severin heirs were paid an up-front bonus payment on a ½ oil and gas estate ownership basis – and multiple horizontal Marcellus Shale legs were drilled on the parcel, with payments being made to Severin POA on a ½ oil and gas estate ownership basis up and until this litigation was commenced. (Appx. 384).

B. The Procedural Background And The Lower Court Orders.

In April of 2021, Respondents filed a declaratory judgment claim seeking a declaration that pursuant to the Deed J.D. Nicholson became vested with 15/16ths of the oil and gas estate, and F.W. Severin solely reserved 1/16th of the oil and gas estate. (Appx. 17-25).

On June 14, 2021, Severin POA filed its Answer to Amended Complaint, Affirmative Defenses and Counterclaims, therein asserting a competing Counterclaim which requested that the “Court declare the parties’ respective rights, interests and obligations related to both mineral ownership and royalty ownership/payment within the framework of the April 18, 1902, Deed and the subsequent developments.” (Appx. 128-129).

At the Circuit Court level, discovery occurred related to the competing declaratory judgment claims of Respondents, Severin POA and Antero – Antero having unilaterally aligned itself with Petitioner based upon its independent title research. Interpretation and construction of

the 1902 Deed was submitted to the Court, by agreement of the parties, at the dispositive motion stage. Id., 172.

By Declaratory Judgment Order entered September 28, 2022, the Circuit Court held that “construction of the deed on the date of its execution, April 18, 1902, supports the conclusion that the reservation of 1/16th of the oil and gas operates to reserve ½ of the oil and gas estate under West Virginia law in 1902 and the early 1900s.” (Appx. 565).

The Respondents appealed to the WV ICA – with the WV ICA reversing the Circuit Court’s holding by Opinion filed November 13, 2023, and thereby effectively vesting a 15th/16th oil and gas estate in Respondents and a 1/16th oil and gas estate in Petitioner. (Appx. 663).

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At issue in this case is the interpretation of a reservation contained in a 1902 Deed, which provides that “the parties of the first [F.W. Severin] also reserve the one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land.” (Appx. 375-376).

The WV ICA’s analysis adhered to strict rules of arithmetic – not the rule of law – in reversing the Circuit Court’s opinion – and in so doing created a plethora of legal pitfalls by disrupting long-standing West Virginia precedent and title practices. The most basic problem with the WV ICA’s simplistic and flawed approach is that in the law a reservation of “one-sixteenth” equaled one half in the context of reservations of mineral interests at the time of the 1902 conveyance/reservation at issue.

To expand, the rules that courts must utilize are fundamentally not those of arithmetic but are rather those of detailed and comprehensive/industry specific textual analysis, interpretation and construction – within the framework of the law, custom/usage at the time of a transaction and the parties’ understanding at the time of a given transaction. The WV ICA summarily failed to perform

the necessary task of determining the meaning of the 1/16th reservation when drafted in 1902, even if the rigid and abstract use of the same words might generate a different meaning today.

Consistent with long standing West Virginia jurisprudence, foreign precedent and title customs in existence at the time the instrument at issue was drafted in 1902, authority which aligns with how leading oil and gas jurisdictions analyze such issues pursuant to the accepted oil and gas doctrine known as the “Estate Misconception Theory”, the WV ICA failed to correctly hold that the reservation, the equation “one-sixteenth”, equals one-half of the mineral estate in the context of the 1902 Deed.

This Court should treat this appeal as an opportunity to create a rule for application to archaic fractional reservations, and to cure the WV ICA’s errors.

In performing a complete and through analysis, avoiding the WV ICA’s pitfalls, this Court should hold that antiquated instruments, such as the Deed, which use fractional reservations or conveyances in the oil and gas industry raise a rebuttable presumption that fractions were used as oil and gas terms of art to refer to what was believed and commonly understood to be the entire, misconceived mineral estate, “the 1/8th mineral estate”, in archaic oil and gas transactions – thus the 1/16th reservation at issue is an actual and effective reservation of a ½ interest in the mineral estate consistent with the Estate Misconception Theory and existing early 1900s West Virginia case law, unless otherwise rebutted. Such a framework would avoid the inaccurate result created by the WV ICA and would serve West Virginia litigants and courts by creating a flexible framework for analysis of 1/8th fractional cases – a framework which will reduce the undesirable byproducts of the WV ICA’s holding, e.g. title instability and wasteful litigation.

Alternatively, should the Court conclude that the 1902 instrument/reservation is ambiguous, the only conclusion this Court can reach, looking at the actual conditions which existed

prior to and post the 1902 reservation and the parties' own, practical construction of the underlying 1902 instrument (particularly the land book records – the best temporal evidence available to the parties and the Court) is that the 1902 instrument reserved ½ of the oil and gas estate in Severin POA. Accordingly, the WV ICA's Opinion must be reversed on this alternative ground – an alternative framework which would allow for the consideration of case and fact specific custom/usage development – which serves the ends of justice/preservation of the true intent of archaic fractional oil and gas conveyances/reservations.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria set forth in West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 18(a), oral argument is necessary in this case.

The decisional process will be significantly aided by oral argument. Specifically, this case is suitable for Rule 20 oral argument because it involves an issue of fundamental public importance, to wit, the WV ICA's decision jeopardizes numerous real property titles and disrupts West Virginia oil and natural gas customs and practices. Moreover, this case generally involves fundamental issues of oil and natural gas instrument construction and application related to the Estate Misconception Theory and treatment of archaic fractional mineral reservations, which are issues of first impression in the modern era of West Virginia oil and gas jurisprudence.

V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court's ruling is clearly a question of law . . . we apply a *de novo* standard of review.” Syl. Pt. 1 Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995).

Further, when reviewing a lower court's decision under a *de novo* standard, no deference is afforded to the lower court's ruling. As stated by this Honorable Court: “[w]hen employing the *de novo* standard of review, we review anew the findings and conclusions of the circuit [or lower]

court, affording no deference to the lower court's ruling." Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc., 201 W.Va. 469, 475, 498 S.E.2d 41, 47 (1997), citing West Virginia Div. of Env. Protection v. Kingwood Coal Co., 200 W.Va. 734, 745, 490 S.E.2d 823, 834 (1997).

VI. ARGUMENT

A. As The WV ICA's Purported Factual Differentiation Of This Matter From Existing, Early 1900s West Virginia Jurisprudence Was Incorrect, And Is Contrary To A Leading Oil And Gas Commentator's Independent Observations From 1931, The WV ICA's Opinion Should Be Reversed And This Court Should Declare That Severin POA Is Vested With A ½ Mineral Estate Under The Parcel.⁶

In Kilcoyne v. Southern Oil Company, 61 W.Va. 539, 56 S.E. 888 (1907), in 1899 McDougal sold and conveyed to Conway one-sixteenth of the oil underlying a parcel of land in Wetzel County. Subsequently, McDougal leased the land for oil and gas purposes, the royalty to be one-eighth of the production. As summarized by the later decision of Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co., 80 W.Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472, in the context of the 1899 oil and gas transaction Kilcoyne "held that the purchaser of the one-sixteenth of the oil in place was entitled to receive one-half of the royalties or one-sixteenth of the oil delivered to him in the pipe line." Paxton, 193. Plainly, the custom/prevailing understanding in 1899, as summarized by the Supreme Court, was that a reservation or conveyance of 1/16th operated as an effective reservation or conveyance of ½ of the oil and gas estate.

In McCoy v. Ash, 64 W.Va. 655 (1908), William A. Ash and his wife sold⁷ to Isaac McCoy "one-sixteenth of all the oil and gas underlying all of a certain tract or parcel of land" located in

⁶ It is telling that there is a clear line of early 1900 West Virginia cases which all involve fractional multiples of the legacy 1/8th royalty – and such a reality demonstrates the clear prevalence of the 1/8th royalty in this era in West Virginia, and that the 1/8th fraction served as a guidepost/reference point for early 1900 reservations/conveyances.

⁷ There is no indication in the opinion as to the date(s) of deeds/instruments.

the McElroy District of Tyler County, West Virginia, and litigation ensued as to the right to one half⁸ of the royalty; that is one sixteenth of the oil, coming from an oil well producing on what was referred to as “the little Gorrell Tract”. (emphasis added).

In addressing the application of the underlying transaction as to ownership of mineral production proceeds from “the little Gorrell Tract”, the West Virginia Supreme Court plainly noted that in the early 1900s in West Virginia, a statement in a deed of a conveyance of 1/16th was a plain declaration that the parties were facilitating the sale of half of the underlying mineral asset. Id., 657 (stating that “[t]he evidence is plain that these parties were dealing for the sale of half of Ash’s entire royalty. Where is any reason for the sale of half of the royalty in the Home Farm and the exception of the royalty in the little piece of Gorrell land?”).

Pursuant to, and consistent with the foregoing, the reservation of 1/16th set forth in the 1902 handwritten Deed plainly reserved ½ of the oil and gas estate consistent with the logic of McCoy, such that a ½ interest in the oil and gas estate should be confirmed by this Court as being vested in the heirs of F.W. Severin.

Similar to McCoy, in Horner v. Gas Co., 71 W.Va. 345 (1912), the West Virginia Supreme Court was again called upon to interpret “one-sixteenth” language in the context of an 1899 deed/mineral transaction.

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