IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

SCA EFiled: May 28 2024
01:50PM EDT
Transaction ID 73244119

Docket No. 23-752

Severin POA Group LLC,

Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

**Earl J. Nicholson and
Joyce A. Nicholson**

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

On Appeal from the Intermediate Court of Appeals
Case No. 22-ICA-207

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

Counsel for Respondents

Andrew R. Cutright (WVSB #11652)
Roger L. Cutright (WVSB #7152)
Cutright Law PLLC
455 Suncrest Towne Centre, Suite 201
Morgantown, WV 26505
Phone: (304) 943-7933
Fax: (304) 212-5825
arcutright@cutrightlawwv.net
rlcutright@cutrightlawwv.net

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

“The said party of the first part grants unto the said party of the second part a one undivided sixteenth interest in and to all the oil in and under that certain tract of land hereinafter described, as well as the one undivided half interest in and to the royalty reserved, or to be reserved, in any gas well that may be drilled on said tract of land. It being the true intention of the grantor herein to convey to the said party of the second part the one-half of the one-eighth of the oil reserved, or to be reserved, in any oil or gas lease that has been executed, and which may be executed on said tract of land, as well as the undivided half interest into the royalty reserved, or to be reserved in any such lease, for each and every gas well to be drilled on said tract. (emphasis added).

²⁷ APP. 669; ICA Order Pg. 5.

²⁸ APP. 669; ICA Order Pg. 11.

²⁹ *Id.*

Id. 521-522. *Lockhart* affirmed that the words “one undivided sixteenth in and to all the oil” **standing alone**, would convey only one-sixteenth of the oil in place:

In this clause there is expressly granted ‘one undivided sixteenth interest in and to all the oil in and under’ said tract of land. **Standing alone it seems plain that the grantors conveyed one-sixteenth of the oil in place.** Not content, however, the grantors explained the grant as follows: ‘It being the true intention of the grantor herein to convey to the said party of the second part the one-half of the one-eighth of the oil reserved’

Id. at 522 (emphasis added).

The grantor in *Lockhart*, unlike in the Severin Deed, explained an intent beyond the grant of an undivided interest of one sixteenth in the oil and gas in place, which is why the Court ruled the conveyance to be for one-half. *Id.* There are no such words in the Severin Deed. Petitioner ignores *Lockhart* in its briefing as the clear holding does not fit its purpose here.

At issue in *Manufacturers’ Light & Heat Co. v. Knapp*, 102 W. Va. 308, 135 S.E. 1 (1926), was whether a conveyance of “one sixteenth” interest of the oil in place granted a “one-half interest” in the oil royalty from production on a well. *Id.* at 2. In ruling the grant was for a “one sixteenth” interest in the oil in place, the Court stated: “The language of the [deed], transferring one-sixteenth of the oil in place . . . does not require interpretation. **How can one-sixteenth equal one-half?**” *Id.* (emphasis added).

Finally, in *Toothman v. Courtney*, 62 W.Va. 167, 183, 58 S.E. 915 (1907), by deed dated May 1, 1894, J. Daniel Toothman conveyed to Joseph McDermott “1-16 one sixteenth part of all the oil and gas in and under” a 143-acre tract of land. *Id.* at 916. The Court held “[w]e agree that Toothman had title to at least one-sixteenth of the oil in place and that he did not have title to the whole of it, for he had, by his deed, conveyed one-sixteenth to McDermott.” *Id.* at 918. F.W. Severin, the grantor of the Severin Deed, used near identical language reserving his interest from

L.D. Nicholson, the grantee of the Severin Deed, that Toothman used to convey to McDermott in 1894.

The ICA correctly applied *Faith United* and *Gastar* to the Severin Deed. However, Petitioner fails to even reference these binding West Virginia cases in its Brief to the Court. Instead, Petitioner relies on five, distinguishable West Virginia cases to contend that “the term ‘one-sixteenth’ was plainly used to refer to ‘one-half’ of a mineral estate in archaic West Virginia oil and gas transactions.” (Pet. Br. at 15).³⁰ Importantly, none of cases cited by Petitioner stand for the proposition that one-sixteenth plainly means one-half.

Petitioner first cites *Kilcoyne*. However, rather than discuss the facts from *Kilcoyne*, Petitioner simply cites to *Paxton* for the purported proposition that the *Kilcoyne* Court “held that the purchaser of the one-sixteenth of the oil in place was entitled to receive one-half of the royalties or one-sixteenth of the oil delivered to him in the pipe line.” (Pet. Br. at 9). This contention is incorrect. In *Kilcoyne*, “in 1899, McDougal sold and conveyed to Conaway one-sixteenth of the oil and gas underlying a parcel of land in Wetzel County. Subsequently, McDougal leased the land for oil and gas purposes, the royalty to be one-eighth of the production.” *Kilcoyne v. Southern Oil Co.*, 56 S.E. at 888. In 1904, McDougal granted and conveyed to H.M. Sartelle “one-sixteenth of all the oil within and underlying said tract of land, and one-half of all gas royalties that might be paid thereon or arise therefrom, and thereafter, [in 1905] McDougal granted to the plaintiff, Kilcoyne, all his remaining right, title and interest in the subject property.” *Id.* Thus, the issue presented to the *Kilcoyne* Court was to declare the respective rights owned by Sartelle and Kilcoyne and payments due from the lessee, Southern Oil Company, out of the fifteen-sixteenth

³⁰ *Kilcoyne v. Southern Oil Co.*, 56 S.E. 888, 61 W.Va. 538 (1907), *Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co.*, 80 W. Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472 (1917), *McCoy v. Ash*, 64 W. Va. 655, 63 S.E. 361 (1908), *Horner v. Gas Co.*, 76 S.E. 662, 71 W.Va. 345 (1912), and *United Carbon Co. v. Presley*, 126 W. Va. 636 (1944).

(15/16th) that remained after the deed to Conaway.

Relevant to the present matter, *Kilcoyne* made clear that Conaway was vested with only one-sixteenth of the oil and gas in place by the grant from McDougal, not one-half.³¹ *Paxton*'s citation to *Kilcoyne* was discussing the final holding of the case, which was not directly related or relevant to the 1899 deed for "one-sixteenth of all the oil and gas within and underlying" the property. Not only does *Kilcoyne* confirm the holding of the ICA that one-sixteenth, on its own, means one-sixteenth, but neither *Kilcoyne* nor *Paxton* support Petitioner's argument.³²

Next, the Petitioner cites *McCoy* to argue that "in the early 1900s in West Virginia, a statement in a deed of a conveyance of 1/16th was a plain declaration that the parties were facilitating the sale of half of the underlying mineral asset." (Pet. Br. at 10). But *McCoy* does not support this argument. At issue in *McCoy* was whether the subject deed conveyed a property interest in an adjacent tract. *McCoy v. Ash*, 64 W. Va. 655, 63 S.E. 361 (1908). The *McCoy* Court was **not** asked to interpret a reservation provision to determine whether it was for one-half or one-sixteenth, and it certainly did not state that one-sixteenth plainly means one-half.

The Petitioner then cites *Horner*, where the deed at issue granted "all of the **one half** of the **royalty**, being **one sixteenth**, of all the oil and one half of the gas within...." (emphasis added). *Horner v. Gas Co.*, 71 W.Va. at 346 (1912). The *Horner* Court was asked to interpret the meaning

³¹ By dated August 24, 1899, and recorded in the Doddridge County Clerk's Office in Deed Book 61, at page 188, S.B. McDougal granted "one-sixteenth (1/16) of all the oil and gas within and underlying" the subject property to T.J. Conaway. The granting language used by S.B. McDougal to describe the mineral rights granted to T.J. Conaway was near identical to that used by W.F. Severin in the Severin Deed.

³² Although Petitioner does not discuss the deed language from *Paxton*, the *Paxton* Court was asked to analyze and interpret a deed that granted "1/16th of all the oil and ½ of all the gas . . . including in this conveyance the ½ of all the royalties. . . ." *Paxton v. Benedum-Trees Oil Co.*, 80 W. Va. 187, 94 S.E. 472 (1917). Due to the deed including multiple fractions, as well as the word "royalty," the Court determined this deed to be ambiguous, and thus had to judicially construct it. Clearly, the deed at issue in *Paxton* is not similar to the language used in the Severin Deed. The ICA discussed the difference between the two deeds in the ICA Order. APP. 674; ICA Order Pg. 10-11. *Paxton*'s holding has no relevance to analyzing the Severin Deed.

of the word “royalty” in the context of the granting language in the deed and the existence of an oil and gas lease on the property granted. *Id.* The Court noted the word “royalty” was ambiguous, and therefore, used extrinsic evidence (being the existence of an oil and gas lease) in constructing the deed to ascertain the intent of the parties. *Id.* at 348. Unlike the deed in *Horner*, the Severin Deed does not contain multiple fractions, or the word royalty. *Horner* certainly did not state that one-sixteenth plainly means one-half.

Finally, Petitioner cites *United Carbon* for the proposition that “the reservation of 1/16th of the oil and gas operates to reserve 1/2 of the oil and gas estate under West Virginia law in 1902 and the early 1900s.” (Pet. Br. at 12-13). But *United Carbon* does not support this contention. In *United Carbon*, the dispute involved the following oil and gas reservation:

It is expressly understood that there is excepted and reserved from the operation of this conveyance and the same does not convey the **one half of the oil and gas royalty** upon and as to said two tracts of land, containing 20 acres, more or less, and 38 acres more or less, that is to say the said Shatto reserves **the undivided one sixteenth of the oil and gas** underlaying said two small parcels of land;

United Carbon Co. v. Presley, 126 W. Va. at 638 (1944) (emphasis added). Given the ambiguity created by the word “royalty” used in conjunction with the word “one-sixteenth”, as well as the “repugnancy” between the two clauses of the reservation, the Court cited *Paxton*, and restated long-held rules of construction for oil and gas reservations containing the ambiguous word “royalty.” *Id.* Unlike the reservation at issue in *United Carbon*, the Severin Deed does not use multiple fractions or the word royalty to describe the interest reserved. *United Carbon* certainly did not state that one-sixteenth plainly means one-half.

The ICA did not perform a “fleeting” examination of West Virginia law as baselessly asserted by Petitioner. (Pet. Br. at 13). Instead, the ICA specifically referenced and discussed the five cases cited by Petitioner, and explained why “there are critical factual differences in each of

the cases cited by [Petitioner] and the instant case, which we find render the logic therein inapplicable to the specific facts and circumstances present in the underlying case.”³³ The “factual differences” between the deeds in *Kilcoyne*, *Paxton*, *McCoy*, *Horner*, *United Carbon*, and the Severin Deed is best explained by reference to the ICA’s analysis in its Order:

Applying these principles to the present case, at the time of the creation of the deed in question, the language utilized by the grantor was clear and unambiguous, and reserved only the one-sixteenth interest in the oil and gas in place. Any additional language indicating that a one-half royalty interest was contemplated, or other inconsistent language arguably creating ambiguity, **is absent**.

App. 663; ICA Order Pg. 11 (emphasis added).

The ICA correctly declared the phrase “one-sixteenth” in the Severin Deed is plain, clear, and unambiguous; one-sixteenth means one-sixteenth. Had F.W. Severin intended to reserve one-half of the oil and gas as alleged by the Petitioner, he would have used the language “one [half] of all the oil and gas in and under said land,” or used additional language indicating an intent to equate one-sixteenth with one-half (as did the parties in *United Carbon*, *McCoy*, and *Horner*). He did not. Instead, he reserved “one sixteenth of all the oil and gas in and under said land.” Application of *Faith United* and *Gastar* to the plain language of the Severin Deed has only one result: the Severin Deed reserved one-sixteenth of the oil and gas in place to F.W. Severin, not one-half. This Court should disregard the Petitioner’s first assignment of error.

c. The ICA Correctly Relied on the Relevant and Binding Precedent and Properly Disregarded Unpersuasive Authority from Kansas and Texas.

In Petitioner’s third assignment of error, Petitioner spends eight pages of its brief discussing treatises and cases from other jurisdictions addressing other issues decided under

³³ App. 663; ICA Order Pg. 8.

different standards . (Pet. Br. at 15-22). First, Petitioner did not adequately address this issue as required by the West Virginia Rules of Appellant Procedure.

Second, and most importantly, as demonstrated *supra*, there is simply no need to look beyond governing West Virginia law to appreciate that, when examined through existing West Virginia jurisprudence, the Severin Deed unambiguously reserved one-sixteenth of all oil and gas in and under the Subject Property. Even if the Court needed to look to other states, the cases that Petitioner relies on would not support the finding that the Severin Deed's reservation for "one-sixteenth" was for "one-half" the oil and gas estate. Accordingly, the Nicholsons request that the Court disregard Petitioner's third assignment of error in totality.

i. Petitioner did not Adequately Brief this Issue to the ICA.

The Petitioner fails to provide a citation to when and how the third assignment of error was presented to the ICA, or what legal authority supports that the ICA erred by ignoring persuasive foreign authority in favor of binding West Virginia precedent. As such, Petitioner did not adequately brief this argument as required by the West Virginia Rules of Appellant Procedure³⁴ and Administrative Order entered December 10, 2012, Re: Filings That Do Not Comply With the Rules of Appellate Procedure ("Administrative Order").³⁵ This Court should decline to address the

³⁴ Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellant Procedure provides

The brief must contain an argument clearly exhibiting the points of fact and law presented, the standard of review applicable, and citing the authorities relied on, under headings that correspond with the assignments of error. The argument must contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint when and how the issues in the assignments of error were presented to the lower tribunal.

³⁵ The Administrative Order addressed non-compliant filings that occurred after a substantial revision to the Rules of Appellate Procedure promulgated on December 1, 2010 and provides at paragraph 7,

Briefs with arguments that do not contain a citation to legal authority to support the argument presented and do not "contain appropriate and specific citations to the record on appeal, including citations that pinpoint

merits of the Petitioner’s third assignment of error, contending that the ICA ignored persuasive foreign authority.

This identical issue was addressed recently by this Court in *T & C Constr. Servs. v. City of St. Albans*, 22-0503 (W. Va. Apr 25, 2024). In *T & C*, petitioner T & C “[assigned] as error the circuit court’s decision to grant the City a money judgment but [offered] no argument to support that assertion.” *Id.* at 17. The Court observed that that T & C “[failed] to cite any points of fact or law backing its contention . . . and T & C’s failure to cite to *any* legal authority in support of this argument further contravenes Rule 10(c)(7) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure.” *Id.* at 18.

Similarly, in *Haught Family Tr. v. Williamson*, No. 19-0368 (W. Va. Apr 20, 2020), the petitioner assigned error to the circuit court’s failure to address the doctrine of laches, alleging that petitioner had briefed “equitable considerations” in the circuit court. After citing Rule 10(c)(7) and the Administrative Order, the Court observed that the petitioner “[had] failed to point this Court to the alleged briefing below wherein the issue was allegedly raised, respondents assert that it was not raised below, and petitioner did not dispute that contention in a reply before this Court, we decline to address the merits of this issue.” *Id.* at 6.

Finally, in *Birchfield v. Zen's Dev., LLC*, 857 S.E.2d 422 (W. Va. 2021), the petitioner’s brief raised eleven assignments of error. However, the Court “[declined] to address the majority of these assignments of error individually because they [did] not comply with our rules of appellate procedure. Specifically, the majority of the assignments of error [did] not include any citation to legal authority or pinpoint citation to the appendix record.” *Id.* at 429. In support, the Court cited

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